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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
 
 
To the Board of the Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo 

 

Opinion 

We have audited financial statements of the Central Bank of Republic of Kosovo (the “CBK”), which comprise the statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the CBK as 

at 31 December 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the CBK in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in Kosovo, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation the financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the CBK’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the CBK or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the CBK’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 

statements. 

 

 







 

Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo 
Statement of comprehensive income 

At 31 December 2022 
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In thousands of EUR 
Note 2022 2021 

Interest income    

Interest income  8,574 4,142 

Interest expense  (2,668) (1,493) 

Net interest income 22 5,906 2,649 

    

Fee and commission income    

Fee and commission income  3,760 3,388 

Fee and commission expense  (924) (577) 

Net fee and commission income 23 2,836 2,811 

    

Regulatory and other operating activities income    

Regulatory activity income 24 6,954 6,335 

Grant income 20, 25 67 126 

Other operating income 26 13 22 

   Foreign exchange net profit / loss 29 542 536 

Operating revenue  16,318 12,479 

Operating expenses    

Personnel expenses 27 (5,127) (4,908) 

Depreciation and amortization 12,13 (829) (1,028) 

General and administrative expenses 28 (1,757) (1,420) 

Operating expenses  (7,713) (7,356) 

    

Financial result before provision for expected credit 

losses  
8,605 5,123 

Provisions for expected credit losses, net decrease / 

(increase) 
4 (53) 993 

Net profit for the year  8,552 6,116 

    

Other comprehensive income  - - 

    

Total comprehensive income for the year  8,552 6,116 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 are an integral part of these financial statements
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In thousands of EUR 

Capital Reserve 

fund 

Revaluation 

fund 

Total 

comprehensi

ve income for 

the year 

Total 

Balance at 1 January 2021 30,000 23,903 792 2,162 56,857 

  Transfer to reserve fund’s - 2,954 (792) (2,162) - 

Total transactions required by law - 2,954 (792) (2,162) - 

Profit for the year - - - 6,116 6,116 

  Other comprehensive income   - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the 

year 
- - - 6,116 6,116 

Balance at 31 December 2021 30,000 26,857 - 6,116 62,973 

      

Balance at 1 January 2022   30,000   26,857   -     6,116   62,973  

Transfer to reserve fund’s  -     4,587   1,529   (6,116)  -    

Total transactions required by law  -     4,587   1,529   (6,116)  -    

   Profit for the year  -     -     -     8,552   8,552  

   Other comprehensive income    -     -     -     -     -    

Total comprehensive income for the 

year 
 -     -     -     8,552   8,552  

Balance at 31 December 2022  30,000   31,444   1,529   8,552   71,525  
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 are an integral part of these financial statements 
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In thousands of EUR Note 2022 2021 

    

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit for the year  8,552 6,116 

Adjustments for:    
Depreciation 12 508 646 
Amortization 13 321 382 
Grant revenue 25 (67) (126) 
Provisions for expected credit losses 

 
4 53 (993) 

Foreign exchange net profit / loss 29 (542) (536) 

Interest income 22 (8,574) (4,142) 

Interest expense 22 2,668 1,493 

  2,919 2,840 
Change in treasury bills and bonds  (32,633) (44,478) 
Change in money market placements  (74,984) 49,999 
Change in assets with IMF  12,507 (45,956) 
Change in other assets  (520) (283) 
Change in due to domestic banks  5,182 22,673 
Change in due to IMF related accounts  (11,439) 47,002 

Change in due to governmental institutions  (22,578) 99,916 

Change in due to public and commercial entities  53,745 (61,269) 

Change in other liabilities  85 (23) 

  (67,716) 70,421 
    
Interest received  6,250 4,758 
Interest paid  (1,612) (1,592) 

Net cash generated from/ (used in) operating 

activities  
(63,078) 73,587 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of equipment 12 (147) (320) 
Purchase of intangible assets  13 (22) (43) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (169) (363) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

(Repayments) for borrowings 19 (230) (110) 

Proceeds from grants 20 8 28 

Net cash used in financing activities  (222) (82) 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents  
(63,469) 73,142 

Effect on exchange rate fluctuation (on cash and cash 

equivalent)  
304 457 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  703,789 630,190 

  
  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 30 640,624 703,789 
 

 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 are an integral part of these financial statements 



Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(in thousands of Euros, unless otherwise stated) 
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1. Reporting entity 

The Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo (hereinafter "CBK" or “the Bank”), the successor to the 

Central Banking Authority of Kosovo, is an independent juridical entity with full capacity as a legal 

person under the law applicable in the Republic of Kosovo. CBK is a distinct public entity with the 

authority to license, supervise and regulate financial institutions in the Republic of Kosovo. The CBK 

acts in accordance with Law No.03/L–209 “Law on Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo” hereafter 

referred to as (“the CBK Law”). As per this law, the principal objectives of CBK are to: 

• Foster and maintain a stable financial system, including a safe, sound and efficient payment 

system. 

• Contribute to achieving and maintaining domestic price stability.  

• Support the general economic policies of the Government. 

 

As prescribed in the Law, CBK acts in accordance with the principles of an open market economy with 

free competition, favouring an efficient allocation of resources.  

 

CBK operates from its premises located in Pristina. The address of the registered office of CBK is as 

follows:  

 

Str. Garibaldi, No. 33  

Prishtina, Kosovo. 

 

Central Bank Board, Executive Board and Governor 

The decision-making bodies of CBK are the Central Bank Board, the Executive Board, and the 

Governor. As per Article 34, paragraph 2, and the provisional provision of Article 79, paragraph 2 of 

the CBK Law, the Central Bank Board comprises of the Governor, and four2 non-executive members, 

and is charged with the supervision of the implementation of the policies, and the supervision of the 

administration and the operations of CBK.  

As at 31 December 2022, the Board of the Central Bank of Kosovo comprised of the following 

members: 

• Flamur Mrasori3 – Chairman of the Board (non-executive) 

• Fehmi Mehmeti4 – Governor 

• Nora Latifi Jashari - Member (non-executive) 

• Bashkim Nurboja5 - Member (non-executive) 

• Nexhat Kryeziu (non-executive) 

 

Whereas, on December 31, 2021, the Central Bank Board consisted of the following 

members: 

• Flamur Mrasori - Chairman of the Board (non-executive) 

• Fehmi Mehmeti – Governor 

• Nora Latifi Jashari - Member (non-executive) 

• Bashkim Nurboja - Member (non-executive) 

•  

As of February 5, 2023, for the Chairman of the Board position, Mr. Bashkim Nurboja has been elected, 

after the expiration of the mandate of Mr. Mrasori. On March 29, 2023, the CBK Board, based on Article 

46 of the Law on the CBK, received the competencies of the Executive Board according to the 

definitions of this article. 

 
2 As of December 31, 2021, was a vacant position for one non-executive member 

3 On February 4, 2023 ends the mandate of Mr. Flamur Mrasori - respectively as Chairman of the Board. 

4 On March 28, 2023 ends the mandate of Mr. Fehmi Mehmeti - respectively as Governor. 

5 Mr. Nurboja is the Chairman of the Board of CBK from February 5, 2023, while from March 29, 2023 he also 

exercises competencies of Governor according to Article 46 of the Law on CBK. 



Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(in thousands of Euros, unless otherwise stated) 

Page 8 of 50 

1. Reporting entity (continued) 

 

Definitions of Article 46 of the Law on CBK: 

 

“Article 46 - Absence or relatively long-term inability to act of the Executive Board: 1. In the event of 

exceptional circumstances and if all members of the Executive Board are absent or unable to act, the 

office of Governor shall be taken temporarily by the Chairman of the Central Bank Board. The two (2) 

most senior, and available, non-executive members of the Central Bank Board will temporarily take 

over the office of the Deputy Governors.  

2. In the event the absence or inability to act of all members of the Executive Board continues for a 

period of three (3) months, vacancies shall have been deemed to be created and the procedures for 

appointment in Article 38 of this Law shall apply.  

 

The Executive Board is responsible for the implementation of CBK policies and its operations. The 

Executive Board on December 31, 2022 consists of the Governor, who is the Chairman, and an Acting 

Deputy Governor, while on December 31, 2021, the Executive Board consisted of the Governor and one 

Deputy Governor. During 2022, one of the Deputy Governors resigned, as a result, based on the 

organizational structure, on December 31, 2022, two positions for members of the Executive Board are 

vacant. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(in thousands of Euros, unless otherwise stated) 
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2. Basis of preparation 

a) Statement of compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs). 

b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRS for each type 

of asset, liability, income and expense. The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting 

policies in note 3 below. 

c) Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Euro (“EUR”), which is CBK’s functional currency unless 

otherwise stated in any analytical note. If not otherwise stated, financial information that is presented in 

Euro has been rounded to the nearest thousand.  

d) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in 

applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 

financial statements are described in Note 5.  

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all the periods presented in these 

financial statements. 

e) Circumstances for performing the Central Bank’s operations in 2022 

The year 2022 has seen rising inflation in almost all major economies around the world. The rapid rise in 

inflation is the result of several factors, including fiscal stimulus measures taken in response to the COVID-

19 pandemic, the effects of the war in Ukraine, particularly on energy prices, and strong consumer demand 

for goods and services following the opening of the boundaries and easing of the restrictions imposed 

during the pandemic. 

In addition, after a stable period of low interest rates, interest rates have increased in 2022. This can affect 

the value of assets, liabilities and net interest expense, and cause impairment losses in the value of financial 

assets. However, the CBK's financial assets are not directly affected by the increase in interest rates, except 

when they are modified. 

A special treatment has been given to the assessment of the new situation created globally after the start of 

the war in Eastern Europe (Ukraine) and the tightening of sanctions of Western countries against the 

Russian Federation (such as the US, UK and the European Union, an initiative which you Kosovo also 

responded). It is still too early to talk about the economic impacts that may result from this situation. But 

there are indications that there can certainly be an impact. CBK evaluated and emphasized that we have 

taken concrete initiatives (the establishment of an advisory body for the Governor and the Executive Board) 

to address and evaluate events that may affect the economy of Kosovo and, consequently, the activity of 

our institution, and we have pledged to be very vigilant in this aspect, to follow the events and be prepared 

for them. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
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3. Significant accounting policies 

a) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at exchange rates at the 

transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date 

are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate of that date. The foreign currency profit or 

loss on monetary items is the difference between the amortized cost in the functional currency at the 

beginning of the period, adjusted with effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortized 

cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Nonmonetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional 

currency at the exchange rate on the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences 

arising on retranslation are recognized in profit or loss. 

b) Interest income and expenses 

Interest income and expenses are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The 

effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts 

through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or where appropriate, a shorter period) to the 

carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial 

recognition of the financial asset and liability and is not revised subsequently. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all the fees and amounts paid or received transaction 

costs, and discounts or premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of 

a financial asset or liability. Interest income and expenses presented in the profit or loss include interest 

on financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost on an effective interest rate basis. 

c)          Fees and commission  

Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial 

asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. 

Other fees and commission income, including transaction fees for operating accounts, fund transfers 

and licensing fees are recognized as the related services are performed.  

Other fees and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed 

as the services are received. 

d)     Employee benefits 

CBK makes compulsory social security contributions that provide pension benefits for employees upon 

retirement. These contributions are classified under defined contribution plans based on Kosovo 

legislation. CBK’s contributions are charged to profit or loss as incurred. 

The CBK also distributes employee benefits on a jubilee basis and in the form of a predetermined 

amount at the time of retirement. The CBK recognizes these expenses according to the occurrence of 

these events according to the long-term benefit plans. 

e)     Taxation and profit allocation  

CBK is exempt from income tax according to Law no. 03/L-209, approved on 22 July 2010. See Note 4 

(f) on how CBK allocates its profit.   
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
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Page 11 of 50 

3.     Significant accounting policies (continued) 

f) Financial assets and liabilities 

 

The financial assets of CBK included in these financial statements are classified as financial instruments 

at amortized cost (hold to collect model) and comprise of cash and cash equivalents, securities, deposit 

accounts with non-resident banks, assets related with IMF and other assets. 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated as at FVTPL (Fair Value through Profit Loss): 

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and  

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

The CBK classifies all its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

rate method. Interest income or interest expense from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost is 

recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include due to domestic banks, governmental 

institutions, public and commercial entities, due to IMF, borrowings and other financial liabilities. 

i. Recognition 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost (AC), fair value 

through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair 

value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition on 

issue. 

As mentioned above, the CBK has in its books only financial instruments at amortized cost, which 

meet the criteria of hold to collect model.  

ii. Reclassification  

The financial assets of the bank depending on the circumstances, respectively the change of its business 

model for the management of financial assets can re-classify the latter even after their initial 

recognition. 

If the bank re-classifies a financial asset or group of financial assets from the amortized cost 

measurement category to the fair value measurement category through profit or loss, their fair value 

will be measured at the new classification date. Any net gain or loss arising on the difference between 

the amortized cost and the fair value of the financial asset is recognized in profit or loss. 

iii. Derecognition 

The CBK derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 

asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which 

the CBK neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does 

not retain control of the financial asset. 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the 

carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration 

received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain 

or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) is recognised in profit or loss.  

Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the 

CBK is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
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3.     Significant accounting policies (continued) 

f) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

The CBK enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial 

position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a 

portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions 

are securities lending and sale-and-repurchase transactions. 

  

In transactions in which the CBK neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of 

ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the CBK continues to recognise the 

asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to 

changes in the value of the transferred asset. 

 

The CBK derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, 

or expire. 

 

iv.  Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the CBK evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified 

asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to 

cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial 

asset is derecognised (see (iii)) and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value.  

 

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different, then the 

modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the CBK recalculates the 

gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognises the amount arising from adjusting the gross 

carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. If such a modification is carried out 

because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is presented together with 

impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income. 

 

The CBK derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 

liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is 

recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 

extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss. 

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost 

of the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate 

and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

v. Offsetting  

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial 

position when, and only when, the CBK has the legal right to set off the amounts and intends either 

to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards, 

or for profits and losses arising from a CBK of similar transactions. 

vi. Amortized cost measurement   

The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability 

is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 

amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount 

recognized and the maturity amount. 
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3.     Significant accounting policies (continued) 

f) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

vii. Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

When available, the CBK measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active 

market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly 

available and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

If a market for a financial instrument is not active, the CBK establishes fair value using a valuation 

technique. Valuation techniques include the use of recent arm’s length transactions between 

knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current fair value of other instruments that 

are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analyses and option pricing models. The chosen 

valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs, relies as little as possible on estimates 

specific to CBK, incorporates all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price, and 

is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. Inputs to 

valuation techniques reasonably represent market expectations and measures of the risk-return factors 

inherent in the financial instrument. CBK calibrates valuation techniques and tests them for validity 

using prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on other 

available observable market data. 

viii. Impairment 

The CBK recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses “ECL” for financial assets that are debt 

instruments and are not measured at FVTPL. The CBK measures loss allowances at an amount equal to 

lifetime ECL except for the following for which they are measured as 12-month ECL: 

• debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 

• other financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition. 

The CBK considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the 

globally understood definition of ‘investment-grade’. 12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result 

from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting 

date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as Stage 1 financial 

instruments. 

Life-time ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 

financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised but which are not 

credit-impaired are referred to as Stage 2 financial instruments. 

 

Measurement of ECL 

 

The ECL impairment model is a probability-based measurement and includes the impact of different 

possible outcomes. Operationally, this can be difficult to implement and selecting relevant economic 

scenarios can be challenging. 
1 
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3.     Significant accounting policies (continued) 

f) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

For detailed implementation of ECL we used the simple method that utilizes the explicit probability of 

default approach which is:  

Expected credit losses (ECL) = Exposure at default (EAD) x Loss given default (LGD) x  

  Probability of default (PD). 

EAD - Exposure at default is the gross carrying amount at financial assets that fall within the model. 

LGD - Loss given default, we used to base on our internal judgment and perception of this value, also 

based on some Basel risk approach for borrowers’ default.    

PD – Probability of default, is the most sensitive variable and represents the probability of non-payment 

by the other party for an observed period (12 months or throughout the life of the instrument). 

 

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and are measured as follows: 

 

- financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of 

all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the CBK in 

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the CBK expects to receive); 

 

- financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between 

the gross carrying. 

g) Cash and cash equivalents   

For the purpose of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash balance on hand, demand 

deposits with banks and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of less than three months, 

which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by CBK in the 

management of its short-term commitments. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position. 

h) Investment securities   

Investment securities, consisting of Treasury Bills and Bonds, are initially measured at fair value plus 

incremental direct transaction costs and subsequently accounted for as amortized cost/hold to collect 

investment using the effective interest rate method. 

Amortized cost/Hold to collect investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturity that the CBK has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, and 

which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss.  

i) Deposits and borrowings 

Deposits and borrowings are initially measured at fair value minus incremental direct transaction costs, 

and subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

j) IMF related assets and liabilities 

The financial position with the IMF is commonly presented in full in the member’s central bank balance 

sheet. IMF related assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at 

their amortized cost. Exchange rate revaluation gains and losses arising on revaluation of IMF assets and 

liabilities are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.    
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3.     Significant accounting policies (continued) 

k) Property and equipment 

i. Recognition and measurement 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment loses from the change in value, if any. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 

self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly 

attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of 

dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.  

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as 

part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 

as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 

ii. Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment is recognized in the carrying amount 

of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to 

CBK and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and 

equipment are derecognized in profit and loss as incurred. 

iii.  Depreciation 

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

each part of an item of property and equipment. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 2022 2021 

Leasehold improvements 20 years 20 years 

Equipment 5 years 5 years 

Computers 3 years 3 years 

Vehicles  5 years 5 years  

The other equipment useful life is assessed on case by case basis. Depreciation methods, useful lives 

and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date. 

 

l) Intangible assets 

Software acquired by the CBK is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any. 

Subsequent expenditure on software is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits 

embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognized as incurred. 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 

the software, from the date that it is available for use. The estimate useful life of each software is 

based on assessment of the use of that software without any large need of upgrade, currently from 3 

to 10 years. 
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3.     Significant accounting policies (continued) 

m) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of CBK’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable 

amount is estimated.  

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows 

that are largely independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or 

loss. Impairment losses in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of 

the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-

generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, 

the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses 

recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased 

or no longer exists.  

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 

amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 

the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 

loss had been recognized. 

n) Financial liabilities 

CBK’s sources of funding are deposits from international, governmental, public, banking and other 

financial institutions. Financial liabilities are measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest 

rate method. 

o) Grant revenue 

Government grants are recognized initially as deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that they 

will be received and that the CBK will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Grants that 

compensate CBK for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same 

periods in which the expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate CBK for the cost of an asset are 

recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset. 

p)  Donor funded salaries 

Certain individuals engaged at CBK are international experts appointed and funded for a short term by 

international organizations. The funding from these international organizations includes, but it is not limited 

to, the payment of salaries to these international experts. As this assistance is paid by the international 

organizations directly to the appointee, the extent of the payments are not known nor are they included in 

these financial statements. 

q)   Provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, CBK has a present legal or constructive obligation 

that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 

specific to the liability. 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by CBK from a 

contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is 

measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected 

net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the CBK recognizes any 

impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 
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3.     Significant accounting policies (continued) 

r) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

(i) Standards and Interpretations effective in the current period 

The following amendments to the existing standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board are effective for the current reporting period: 

• Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” - Refers to the conceptual framework 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022), 

• Amendments to IAS 37 - “Provisions, Assets and Contingent Liabilities” - Large Contracts 

The cost of performing a contract (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022), 

• Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment - Revenue before target use 

(effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). 

• The cycle of annual improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 which is a summary of changes to 

IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16, IAS 41 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). 

The application of these standards, amendments and interpretations has no significant impact on the 

financial statements of the Central Bank in the current period. 

(ii) Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted 

As at the date of authorization of these financial statements the following standards, revisions and 

interpretations have been published by the IASB, but are not yet effective and have not been adopted 

early by the Central Bank: 

• IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts" (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2023), 

• Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and “Practice Statement 2” 

- Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2023), 

• Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors” - Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2023), 

• Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 

arising from a Single Transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2023), 

• Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Classification of Liabilities 

as Short-Term Liabilities or Long-Term Liabilities (effective for periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2024), 

• Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024), 

• Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Non-current Liabilities with 

Covenants (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024), 

• Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 “Investments 

in Associates and Joint Ventures” - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 

its Associate or Joint Venture (effective date postponed indefinitely) 

The Central Bank has elected not to adopt these standards, revisions and interpretations in advance of 

their effective dates. The Central Bank anticipates that the adoption of these standards, revisions and 

interpretations will not have a significant impact on the financial statements of the Central Bank. 
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4. Financial Risk Management 

a)     Introduction and Overview 

CBK has exposure to the following risks from its activities and also from the use of financial 

instruments: 

• Credit risk  

• Operational risk 

• Liquidity risk 

• Market risk 

This note presents information about the CBK’s exposure to each of the above risks, CBK’s objectives, 

policies and processes for measuring and managing risk as well as the administration of activities and 

capital by the CBK. Further qualitative and quantitative disclosures are included throughout these 

financial statements. 

 

Risk Management Framework  

The Central Bank Board has overall responsibility to oversight the administration of CBK activities 

(including risk management). CBK management reports regularly through CBK’s Executive Board 

to the Central Bank Board on risk management practices. The Executive Board has the responsibility 

to identify and assess the risks and draw up plans, so that in case of unexpected events in the future, 

the continuity of activities and the security of the Central Bank are ensured. CBK management reports 

regularly (on a quarterly basis) through the Risk Management Department and the CBK Executive 

Board to the CBK Board on risk management and administration practices. The Executive Board, the 

Investment Committee and the Risk Management Department are tasked with drafting and 

monitoring the CBK's risk management and administration policies. These policies are then 

implemented by the relevant organizational units. These policies are implemented by the respective 

organizational units.  

CBK’s risk management and administration policies are established to identify and analyze the risks 

that the CBK has to deal with, and to set appropriate risk controls and limits, to monitor risks and 

adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 

in market conditions, products and services offered. CBK, through its training and management 

standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in 

which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

CBK’s Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and reviewing compliance with risk 

management policies and procedures, as well as for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management 

framework related to the risks faced by the CBK. CBK’s Audit Committee is assisted in these 

functions by the Internal Audit Department. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc audits 

of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported through the Chief 

Internal Auditor to the Audit Committee. 

 

b)    Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the CBK if a contracting party to financial instruments 

fails to meet its contractual obligations, and may arise mainly from CBK’s investments in 

securities and deposits (in money markets or current account) in other banks. For credit risk 

management reporting purposes, the CBK considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure 

(such as individual obligor default risk, country and sector risk). 
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4.    Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Management of Credit Risk 

i. Investments and exposure of CBK’s Credit Risk 

CBK limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in securities and in deposits with foreign banks 

that have investment grade and whose short-term liabilities are rated by internationally recognized 

credit rating agencies. Given the investment credit ratings, the management does not expect any 

contracting party to fail to meet its obligations as per our credit risk appetite.  

The management of the risk is performed through:  

- Limiting the scope and duration of financial instruments, 

- Limiting the counterparties issuers, by acceptable credit rating on investment grade and above, 

- Limit the maximum amount and concentration with the counterparties,  

 

ii. Exposure towards credit risk  
 

Exposure to credit risk on December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, is represented by the carrying 

value of current accounts with foreign banks, securities (Treasury bills and bonds) and deposits with 

banks (including resident and non-resident ones). For details on exposure also refer to notes 8, 9 and 

10. 

The credit rating for the financial instruments that CBK has exposure for the period ending on 

December 31, 2022 is from AAA to BBB-/ Aaa to Baa3/AAA to BBB-. 

The following table presents the carrying values of exposure to credit risk divided by credit rating and 

expressed as a percentage of the total. 

 

Distribution by type and credit rating 

 December 31, 2022 

Credit Rating 

(S&P/Moody’s/Fitch) 

Current 

accounts 

with non-

resident 

banks 

Money 

market 

placements  

Securities 

(Treasury 

Bills and 

Bonds) 

IMF related 

accounts 

(SDR 

holding and 

use of funds) 

Total 

carrying 

value 

% of 

total 

weight 

AAA/Aaa/AAA 205,718 54,956 168,864 - 429,538 36.23% 

AA+/Aa1/AA+ - - 61,222 - 61,222 5.16% 

AA/Aa2/AA - - 59,988 - 59,988 5.06% 

AA-/Aa3/AA- - - 51,308 - 51,308 4.33% 

A+/A1/A+ 138 - 52,379 - 52,517 4.43% 

A/A2/A 330 - 15,810 - 16,140 1.36% 

A-/A3/A- 214 45,050 218,415 - 263,679 22.24% 

BBB-/Baa3/BBB- - - 38,973 - 38,973 3.29% 

N/A (unrated (IFI6)) - - - 160,327 160,327 13.52% 

N/A (unrated)7 - - - 51,745 51,745 4.37% 

Total 206,400 100,006 666,959 212,072 1,185,437 100.00% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 IFI - International financial institutions. 
7 There is no credit rating (neither external nor internal) for the assets in question. 
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4.    Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

 

Distribution by type and credit rating 

 December 31, 2021 

Credit Rating 

(S&P/Moody’s/Fitch) 

Current 

accounts 

with non-

resident 

banks 

Money 

market 

placements  

Securities 

(Treasury 

Bills and 

Bonds) 

IMF related 

accounts 

(SDR 

holding and 

use of funds) 

Total 

carrying 

value 

% of 

total 

weight 

AAA/Aaa/AAA  109,931   4,415   113,844   -     228,190  22.36% 

AA+/Aa1/AA+  -     -     134,241   -     134,241  13.15% 

AA/Aa2/AA  -     -     10,011   -     10,011  0.98% 

AA-/Aa3/AA-  -     -     -     -     -    0.00% 

A+/A1/A+  441   -     -     -     441  0.04% 

A/A2/A  9,944   -     118,191   -     128,135  12.56% 

A-/A3/A-  31,596   9,644   216,576   -     257,816  25.26% 

BBB-/Baa3/BBB-  -     -     40,107   -     40,107  3.93% 

N/A (unrated (IFI)) - - - 158,218 158,218 15.50% 

N/A (unrated) - - - 63,359 63,359 6.21% 

Total  151,912   14,059  632,970 221,577 1,020,518 100.00% 

 

None of CBK’s exposures are past due. CBK does not hold any collateral or other credit 

enhancements against its exposure to credit risk. 

The basic criteria for determining exposure are credit rating. Credit rating is obtained from credit 

rating agencies. The minimum credit rating allowed for short-term investment is P-2 (Moody’s) or 

A-2 (Standard & Poor’s), while in the long term it is Baa2 (Moody’s) or BBB (Standard & Poor’s).  

In extraordinary cases of inability to make positive returns, investment exposure is permitted through 

the short-term credit rating of issuer P-3 (Moody's) or A-3 (Standard & Poor's) and the long-term 

credit rating of Issuer Baa3 (Moody's) or BBB- (Standard & Poor's). 
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4.    Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

Model of impairment of financial assets defines three stages of credit levels, at the initial recognition 

and changes in credit quality after initial recognition. Those stages can be summarized as below: 

1. Stage 1 (Performing) of exposure distribution - financial assets which are treated as the low 

or medium risk exposure, all of them which fall with in this are allocated to the Stage 1 at 

initial recognition. According to our internal procedure we are not allowed to invest in the 

higher credit risk exposure. Based on this each investment at initial recognition is allocated 

to Stage 1 of exposure. 

2.  Stage 2 (Under Performing) of exposure distribution - if we have a significant increase 

since initial recognition the financial asset which is located in stage 1 moved to stage 2. 

3. Stage 3 (Non-Performing) of exposure distribution - the criteria that moves financial assets 

to stage 3 is determined from default status of the financial assets. 

The evaluation is done on initial recognition and at the date of the reporting period. The model used for 

the stage 1 of distribution is 12 months basis of the life time, but it could be depending to the composite 

credit exposure level if we have the significant change on increase on credit risk and on credit impaired 

of the financial asset’s portfolio. 

Significant change in increase of the credit risk as criteria to move from stage 1 to stage 2, when it goes 

from investment grade to the non-investment grade of the composite credit rating of a portfolio.  

Definition of the default: 

Default criteria should be based on the objective evidence of:  

- Debtors, significant financial difficulties 

- When it is coming to breach of contractual obligations, in regards to the principal and interest, 

- When it happens to any restructuring the existing terms of servicing the obligation from an 

financial instrument, 

- Clear evidence/probability that debtor is going to the bankruptcy and/or liquidation, 

- Sings of not being active in the trading mark. 

 

The following table shows the exposure values by stages. At the reporting date we do not have any 

material change in credit risk since the initial recognition therefore all financial assets are in stage 1. 

 

 20228 2021 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Current accounts with non-

resident banks 
206,400 - - 151,912 - - 

Securities 666,959 - - 632,970 - - 

Deposit accounts with non-

resident banks  
100,006 - - 14,059 - - 

Gross carrying amount 973,365 - - 798,941 - - 

Loss allowance (459) - - (406) - - 

Net Carrying amount 972,906 - - 798,535 - - 

 
8 Neither in 2022 nor in the comparative year, the IMF related accounts (SDR and use of funds) are not included 

as the assessment is that this group is not an exposition that carries allowances for expected credit losses (ECL). 
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4.    Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Management of credit risk (continued) 

 

The movements of the respective ECL for the financial instruments that the CBK has exposure are as 

follows: 

 2022  
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

ECL as at 1 January 2022 406 - - 406 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

ECL (release) / charge of the year 53 - - 53 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 

between stages during the year 
- - - - 

Unwind of discount (recognized in interest income) - - - - 

Changes due to modifications not resulting in 

derecognition 
- - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations 
- - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

At 31 December 2022 459 - - 459 

 

 2021 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

ECL as at 1 January 2021 1,399 - - 1,399 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

ECL (release) / charge of the year (993) - - (993) 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 

between stages during the year 
- - - - 

Unwind of discount (recognized in interest income) - - - - 

Changes due to modifications not resulting in 

derecognition 
- - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations 
- - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

At 31 December 2021 406 - - 406 
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4.   Financial Risk Management (continued) 

c)    Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that CBK will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations from its 

financial liabilities.  

Management of liquidity risk  

CBK’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities in due time, both in normal and unfavorable conditions, without incurring 

unacceptable losses or risking damage to CBK’s reputation. 

Policies to monitor and address liquidity risk are set by the CBK Executive Board. The CBK manages 

its liquidity risk by investing in short term deposits with non-resident banks and holding adequate 

amounts of cash in its vaults. Liquidity management policies are set to ensure that even under adverse 

conditions, the CBK is able to meet its obligations. The daily liquidity position is monitored and regular 

liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and more severe 

market conditions. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by the CBK 

management. Monthly reports covering the liquidity position of the CBK are regularly submitted to 

the Investment Committee members by the Asset Management Department. 

Exposure to liquidity risk 

Residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities, excluding future interest payments  

31 December 2022 

Note Net 

carrying 

amount 

Less than 

1 month 

1-3 

months 

3 mon. 

to 1 year 

1 year 

to 5 years 

over 5 

years 

Non-derivative assets        

Cash on hand  409,426 409,426 - - - - 

Current accounts with non-resident banks  8 206,359 206,359 - - - - 

Securities (Bonds and Treasury bills) 9 666,597 - 51,407 140,605 456,480 18,105 

Money market placements  10 99,950 14,799 40,069 45,082 - - 

Assets in IMF related accounts 11 229,784 178,039 - 12,936 38,809 - 

  1,612,116 808,623 91,476 198,623 495,289 18,105 

Non-derivative liabilities        

Due to domestic banks 15 (594,281) (594,281) - - - - 

Due to IMF related accounts 16 (239,449) (271) - (12,936) (38,809) (187,433) 

Due to governmental institutions 17 (585,784) (585,784) - - - - 

Due to public and commercial entities  18 (131,137) (131,137) - - - - 

Borrowings 19 (1,938) - - (228) (912) (798) 

Other liabilities 20 (756) (756) - - - - 

                    

(1,334,

457) 

(1,553,345) (1,312,229) - (13,164) (39,721) (188,231) 

  58,771 (503,606) 91,476 185,459 455,568 (170,126) 
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4.   Financial Risk Management (continued) 

c)    Liquidity risk (continued) 

31 December 2021 Note 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

Less than 

1 month 

1-3 

months 

3 mon. 

to 1 year 

1 year 

to 5 years 

over 5 

years 

Non-derivative assets        

Cash on hand  537,818 537,818 - - - - 

Current accounts with non-resident banks  8 151,880 151,880 - - - - 

Securities (Bonds and Treasury bills) 9 632,602 - 27,849 346,143 224,592 34,018 

Money market placements    10 14,053 14,053 - - - - 

Assets in IMF related accounts 11 239,903 176,544 12,251 - 51,108 - 

  1,576,256 880,295 40,100 346,143 275,700 34,018 

Non-derivative liabilities        

Due to domestic banks 15 (589,099) (589,099) - - - - 

Due to IMF related accounts 16 (248,584) (268) (12,251) - (51,108) (184,957) 

Due to governmental institutions 17 (608,362) (608,362) - - - - 

Due to public and commercial entities  18 (77,392) (77,392) - - - - 

Borrowings 19 (2,139) - - (225) (901) (1,013) 

Other liabilities 20 (756) (756) - - - - 

  (1,526,332) (1,275,877) (12,251) (225) (52,009) (185,970) 

  49,924 (395,582) 27,849 345,918 223,691 (151,952) 

 

In order to manage the liquidity risk arising from financial liabilities, the CBK holds liquid assets 

comprising cash and cash equivalents and securities for which there is an active and liquid market. 
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4.    Financial risk management (continued) 

c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign exchange 

rates and credit (not relating to changes in the borrower’s / issuer’s credit status) will affect CBK’s 

income or the value of financial instruments it holds. The objective of market risk management is to 

manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on 

investments. 

 

Management of market risks 

CBK’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations to the extent that interest-bearing 

assets and liabilities mature or reprise at different times or amounts. In the case of floating rate assets 

and liabilities, there is exposure to basic risk, which is the difference in reprising characteristics of the 

various floating rate indices. 

Risk management activities are aimed at optimizing net interest income, based on market interest rate 

levels consistent with the CBK’s operations strategies. CBK’s exposure to market risk is related only to 

non-trading portfolios.  

 

Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios 

The principal risk, to which non-trading portfolios are exposed to, is the risk of loss, caused by the 

fluctuation of future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments due to a change in market rates. 

Interest rate risk is managed principally by monitoring interest rate gaps and by having pre-approved 

limits for reprising strips. The Investment Committee is the monitoring body of the implementation of 

these limits.  

A summary of CBK’s interest rate gap position on non-trading portfolios is presented in the table below. 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(d)  Market risks (continued) 

Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios 

31 December 2022 N
o

te
 Net 

carrying 

amount  

Less than 

3 

months 

3-6 

months 

6-12 

months 
1-5 years 

Over 5 

years 

  
      

Current accounts with non-

resident banks  
8 206,359 206,359 - - - - 

Securities  

(Bonds and Treasury bills) 
9 666,597 - 10,109 34,499 567,624 54,365 

Money Market Placements   10 99,950 24,774 30,094 35,090 9,992 - 

Assets in IMF related 

accounts 
11 229,784 178,039 - - 51,745 - 

Total  1,202,690 409,172 40,203 69,589 629,361 54,365 

 
       

Due to domestic banks 15 (594,281) (594,281) - - - - 

Due to IMF related accounts 16 (239,449) (271) - - (51,745) (187,433) 

Due to governmental 

institutions 
17 (585,784) (585,784) - - - - 

Due to public and commercial 

entities 
18 (131,137) (131,137) - - - - 

Borrowing 19 (1,938) - - - - (1,938) 

Due to Other liabilities 20 (756) (756) - - - - 

Total  (1,553,345) (1,312,229) - - (51,745) (189,371) 

Gap  (350,655) (903,057) 40,203 69,589 577,616 (135,006) 

        

31 December 2021 

N
o

te
 

Net 

carrying 

amount  

Less than 

3 

months 

3-6 

months 

6-12 

months 
1-5 years 

Over 5 

years 

        

Current accounts with non-

resident banks 
8 151,880 151,880 - - - - 

Securities  

(Bonds and Treasury bills) 
9 632,602 - - 6,635 518,894 107,073 

Money market placements 10 14,053 14,053 - - - - 

Assets in IMF related 

accounts 
11 239,903 176,544 - - 63,359 - 

Total  1,038,438 342,477 - 6,635 582,253 107,073 

 
       

Due to domestic banks 15 (589,099) (589,099) - - - - 

Due to IMF related accounts 16 (248,584) (268) - - (63,359) (184,957) 

Due to governmental 

institutions 
17 (608,362) (608,362) - - - - 

Due to public and commercial 

entities 
18 (77,392) (77,392) - - - - 

Borrowing 19 (2,139) - - - - (2,139) 

Other liabilities  20 (756) (756) - - - - 

Total  (1,526,332) (1,275,877) - - (63,359) (187,096) 

Gap  (487,894) (933,400) - 6,635 518,894 (80,023) 

Non-interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities are not included in the table above.
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(d)  Market risks (continued) 

Overall non-trading interest rate risk is managed by the Asset Management Department, which uses 

investment securities and deposits with banks to manage the overall risk arising from the CBK’s non-

trading activities. 

Management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the 

sensitivity of the CBK’s financial assets and liabilities against various standard and nonstandard interest 

rate scenarios. Standard scenarios that are assessed on a regular basis include a 100-basis point (“bps”) 

parallel fall or rise in all yield curves. An analysis of the CBK’s sensitivity to an increase or decrease in 

market interest rates (assuming no asymmetrical movement in yield curves and a constant financial 

position) is as follows: 

 

2022  

 100 bps 100 bps 

 Increase Decrease 

Estimated profit (loss) effect 
(3,507) 3,507 

  

2021  

 100 bps 100 bps 

 Increase Decrease 

Estimated profit (loss) effect 
(4,879) 4,879 

 

Exposure to other market risks/currency risks non-trading portfolios 

CBK has an exposure to SDR related to its IMF assets and liabilities and to USD related its assets in the 

current accounts with non-resident banks and investments in dollar securities, which they monitor 

continuously. which it monitors on an on-going basis. CBK’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as 

follows: 

 

2022 SDR USD 

  100 bps 100 bps 100 bps 100 bps 

 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease 

Estimated profit 

(loss) effect 
51 (51) (98) 98 

    

2021    

 100 bps 100 bps 100 bps 100 bps 

 Increase Decrease Increase Decrease 

Estimated profit 

(loss) effect 
42 (42) (92) 92 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(d)  Market risks (continued) 

31 December 2022 EUR USD  

(Equivalent in EUR) 
SDR  

(Equivalent in EUR) 
Total 

Assets     

Cash on hand  409,426 - - 409,426 

Current accounts with non-resident banks 206,012 347 - 206,359 

Securities (Treasury Bills and Bonds) 661,916 4,681 - 666,597 

Money market placements  95,168 4,782 - 99,950 

Assets with the IMF related accounts 1,158 - 314,405 315,563 

Other assets 2,709 - - 2,709 

Total 1,376,389 9,810 314,405 1,700,604 

Liabilities     

Due to domestic banks 594,281 - - 594,281 

Due to IMF related accounts 1,201 - 317,535 318,736 

Due to governmental institutions 585,784 - - 585,784 

Due to public and commercial entities 131,137 - - 131,137 

Borrowing - - 1,938 1,938 

Other liabilities 2,444 - - 2,444 

Total 1,314,847 - 319,473 1,634,320 

Net foreign currency position 61,542 9,810 (5,068) 66,284 

 

31 December 2021 EUR USD 

(Equivalent in EUR) 

SDR 

(Equivalent in EUR) 
Total 

Assets      

Cash on hand  537,818  - -  537,818  

Current accounts with non-resident banks  151,552  328 -  151,880  

Treasury bills  628,188  4,414 -  632,602  

Money market placements   9,638  4,415 -  14,053  

Assets with the IMF related accounts  144  - 323,649  323,793  

Other assets  2,187  - -  2,187  

Total  1,329,527  9,157 323,649  1,662,333  

Liabilities     

Due to domestic banks  589,099  - -  589,099  

Due to IMF related accounts  145  - 325,708  325,853  

Due to governmental institutions  608,362  - -  608,362  

Due to public and commercial entities  77,392  - -  77,392  

Borrowing  -    - 2,139  2,139  

Other liabilities  2,418  - -  2,418  

Total  1,277,416  - 327,847  1,605,263  

Net foreign currency position  52,111  9,157 (4,198)  57,070  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(d) Market risks (continued) 

CBK mainly carries out operations with Euro, while foreign currencies that CBK deals are mainly 

“Special Drawing Rights” (“SDRs”) and USD. The exchange rates used for translation on 31 December 

2022 and 2021 were as follows: 

2022 2021 

EUR EUR 

1 SDR                                                                                                         1.25291                     1.23748                     
1 USD 0.93756     0.88292  

SDRs are supplementary foreign Exchange/transaction reserve assets defined and maintained by the 

International Monetary Fund (IMF). Although the SDR itself is not a currency, it represents a potential 

claim on the currencies of IMF member states for which they may be exchanged. SDRs were created in 

1969 to alleviate a shortage of preferred foreign exchange reserve assets, namely the US dollar and gold, 

the value of the SDRs is defined as a mean currency basket of five major currencies, the Euro, the US 

Dollar, the British Pound, Japanese Yen and Chinese Renminbi.  

US Dollar are current account and overnight deposit (such as repo) assets with Federal Reserve New 

York. 

(e) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with 

CBK’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, as well as from external factors other than 

credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and 

generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risk arises from all of CBK’s 

operations and it affects all the organizational units. 

CBK’s objective is to manage operational risk, as well as to balance the avoidance of financial losses 

and damage to CBK’s reputation by effective cost management. 

The main responsibility for the development and implementation of controls in order to monitor 

operational risk is assigned to managerial staff within each organizational unit. This responsibility is 

supported by the observance of overall CBK standards for the management of operational risk in the 

following areas: 

• requirements for the allocation of duties and responsibilities, including the independent 

authorization of transactions; 

• requirements for transaction evaluation and monitoring; 

• compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 

• documentation of controls and procedures; 

• requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced and the adequacy of controls 

and procedures to address the risks identified; 

• requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial actions; 

• development of contingency plans; 

• training and professional development; 

• ethical and code of conduct standards; 

• Risk mitigation, including insurance, where this is effective. 

Compliance with CBK standards is supported by a periodic reporting program reviewed by the Risk 

Management and Internal Audit Department. The findings of the evaluations of both the Department 

for risk management and Internal Audit are discussed with the management of the organizational unit 

with which they are related, and the same are also submitted and discussed in the Audit Committee 

and the decision-making bodies of the CBK.
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4.  Financial risk management (continued)  

(f) Capital management  

In accordance with the Law, CBK shall establish and maintain a general reserve. The general reserve 

may not be used except for the purposes of covering losses sustained by the CBK. In addition, CBK 

shall establish unrealized revaluation reserve accounts to account for unrealized profit and losses 

owing to its positions with foreign currencies, gold, financial instruments and other assets.  

Pursuant to the Law no. 03/L-209, the net profits or losses of the Central Bank shall be determined in 

conformity with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The earnings available for distribution shall be determined as follows: 

• by deducting from the net profits, the total amount of unrealized revaluation profits, and by 

allocating an equivalent amount to the respective unrealized revaluation reserve account; and       

• by deducting from the appropriate unrealized revaluation reserve account and adding to the 

distributable earnings the amount of any unrealized profit that was deducted from the net 

profits for one or more previous years and was realized during the current financial year. 

 

Unrealized revaluation losses will be transferred to the respective unrealized revaluation reserve 

accounts until such time as these revaluation reserve accounts have a zero balance, after which these 

losses shall be covered by the current year’s profit, then by the general reserve account and 

subsequently by the authorized capital account. 

 

According to article 56, paragraph 1.1. of the Law no. 03/L-209 on Central Bank of the Republic of 

Kosovo, all distributable earnings will first be applied to the general reserve fund until the aggregate 

amount of initial capital and general reserves equals five percent (5%) of the Central Bank’s monetary 

liabilities. 

50% of the distributable earnings remaining after fulfilling the 5% criteria mentioned above is required 

to be transferred to the Ministry of Finance. While the remaining 50% percent will be allocated to the 

general reserve fund of the Central Bank. 

 
Distributable earnings    

Description 2022 2021 

 Total comprehensive income for the year  8,552             6,116  

From which are unrealized revaluation gains (profits) 

(note 29) 
542 1,529 

From which are unrealized revaluation losses which 

were realized in the current year  
- - 

 Distributable earnings   8,010 4,587 

 

Capital, general reserve account and distributable earnings     
 2022 2021 

Capital  30,000                         30,000  

General reserve  31,444                         26,857 

Distributable earnings   8,010                           4,587  

Total Capital, general reserve account and 

distributable earnings   
69,454 61,444 

 
Total monetary liabilities 2022 2021 

Due to commercial banks 594,281 589,099 

Due to government 585,784 608,362 

Due to IMF related accounts9 187,704 185,225 

Due to public and commercial entities 131,137 77,392 

Du to borrowings 1,938 2,139 

Due to other monetary liabilities 756 756 

Total monetary liabilities 1,501,600 1,462,973 

Ratio as per article 56, paragraph 1.1. 4.63% 4.20% 

 
9 Exclude securities account and accruals. 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(g) Asset management 

In accordance with the Law no. 03/L-209 and Law no. 03/L-048, the CBK is assigned the responsibility 

for making and managing authorized investments on behalf of the Ministry of Finance. 

5.  Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements involves the use of uncertain estimates and assumptions about 

future events that affect the amounts recognized for assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 

Management discusses with the Central Bank Board the development, selection and disclosure of CBK’s 

critical accounting policies and estimates, and the application of these policies and estimates. Estimates 

and judgments are continually reviewed and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Actual results may differ from those estimated. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 

basis. Evaluation reviews are recognized prospectively. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Allowances for credit losses 

Assets accounted for at amortized cost are evaluated for impairment on a basis described in accounting 

policy. Uncertainty in the assessment which may result in a material adjustment in the reporting period 

is presented in the case of: determination of data for the HPC measurement model, including information 

on the future and key assumptions used in estimating recoverable flows monetary. The specific 

component of the total allowances for impairment applies to financial assets evaluated individually for 

impairment and is based upon management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that 

are expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes judgments about the 

counterparty’s financial situation and the net realizable value of any underlying collateral. Each impaired 

asset is assessed on its merits, and an estimate of cash flows considered recoverable is independently 

approved.  

Pandemic COVID 19 and other global developments 

In the financial statements of 2021 and 2022, the bank's international reserves, consisting of highly rated 

securities and short-term bank deposits (in the euro currency), have not been materially affected by the 

global economic slowdown or the worsening of market conditions as a result of the pandemic, inflation 

and other crises of these years at the global level. Likewise, we do not estimate that it will have an impact 

in the following year after the reporting year. We expect the same as of upcoming year. 

During 2021, there was a new SDR allocation from the IMF that has increased international reserves in 

DVT (SDR) for its members, an increase from that has also Kosovo benefited, by increasing Kosovo's 

international reserves with the IMF by about 100 million euros [or about 79 million DVT (SDR)]. 

During the year 2022, there was no significant similar change. 

 

Critical accounting judgments in applying CBK’s accounting policies 

Critical accounting judgments made in applying CBK’s accounting policies include: 

  

Financial asset and liability classification 

CBK’s accounting policies provide scope for assets and liabilities to be designated on inception into 

different accounting categories in certain. 

In classifying financial assets as hold to collect, CBK has determined that it has both the positive 

intention and ability to hold the assets until their maturity date as required by accounting policy.  
Also, the judgments made in the implementation of accounting policies, which have a significant impact 

on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are: setting criteria to assess whether the credit 

risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, setting the methodology for 

include information on the future in measuring Expected Credit Losses (ECL) and selecting and 

approving models used to measure ECL.
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6. Financial assets and liabilities (Accounting classifications and fair values)  

The table below sets out CBK’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities, and their 

fair values. All financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost (hold to collect). 

  2022 2021 

31 December  Note Amortized cost Fair value Amortized cost Fair value 

Cash on hand 7 409,426 409,426 537,818 537,818 

Current accounts with 

non-resident banks 
8 206,359 206,359 151,880 151,880 

Securities 9 666,597 645,095 632,602 631,621 

Money market placements  10 99,950 99,950 14,053 14,053 

Assets related with IMF 11 315,563 315,563 323,793 323,793 

Other Assets  14 176 176 129 129 

  1,698,071 1,676,569 1,660,275 1,659,294 

Due to domestic banks 15 594,281 594,281 589,099 589,099 

Due to IMF related 

accounts 16 
318,736 318,736 325,853 325,853 

Due to governmental 

institutions 17 
585,784 585,784 608,362 608,362 

Due to public and 

commercial entities 18 
131,137 131,137 77,392 77,392 

Borrowing 19 1,938 1,938 2,139 2,139 

Other liabilities 20 756 756 756 756 

  1,632,632 1,632,632 1,603,601 1,603,601 

 
7. Cash on hand  

Cash on hand is all denominated in EUR 

  2022 2021 

Cash on hand  409,426 537,818 

Total 409,426   537,818 

8. Current accounts with non-resident banks   

These accounts were held at the following banks: 

  2022 2021 

Deutsche Bundesbank 142,288  64,669  

Raiffeisen Zentralbank 330  9,944  

Deutsche Bank  214  31,596  

Banque Centrale du Luxembourg 63,102  44,985  

Commerzbank AG 138  441  

Federal Reserve Bank (FED-NY) 328  277  

Total carrying amount 206,400  151,912  

Impairment for expected credit loss (41)  (32) 

Total net carrying amount 206,359  151,880  

 

Until July 27, 2022, the CBK has paid negative rates for nostro current account balances with 

correspondent banks (according to certain limits determined by them). From July 27 (referring to the 

ECB's decision on the change of the base interest rate from July 27, 2022, September 14, November 2, 

and December 21, 2022) the CBK receive interest from positive rates on nostro current accounts with 

Deutsche Bundesbank and Banque Centrale du Luxembourg (according to certain limits determined by 

them). Interest rate for the reporting period is between 1.85% and 2%.
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8. Current accounts with non-resident banks (continued) 

Relevant movements of corresponding ECLs for current accounts with non-resident banks are as 

follows: 

 2022  

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

ECL as at 1 January 2022  32   -     -     32  

Transfers to Stage 1  -     -     -     -    

Transfers to Stage 2  -     -     -     -    

Transfers to Stage 3  -     -     -     -    

ECL charge for the year  9   -     -     9  

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 

between stages during the year 
- - - - 

Unwind of discount (recognized in interest income) - - - - 

Changes due to modifications not resulting in 

derecognition 
- - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations 
- - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

At 31 December 2022  41   -     -     41  

 

 2021  

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

ECL as at 1 January 2021 363 - - 363 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

ECL charge / (release) for the year (331) - - (331) 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 

between stages during the year 
- - - - 

Unwind of discount (recognized in interest income) - - - - 

Changes due to modifications not resulting in 

derecognition 
- - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations 
- - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

At 31 December 2021 32 - - 32 

9. Securities (Treasury bills and Bonds) 

Both categories that are part of the group are debt securities issued by European Union countries, USA 

and Kosovo and are measured at amortised cost. The treasury bills disclosed below have a maturity of 

up to one year. While those of bonds up to 7 years. The effective interest rate on securities ranges from 

-0.014% to 3.023% p.a. in 2022 (2021: -0.014% to 3.023% p.a.). 
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9. Securities (treasury bills and bonds) (continued) 

Breakdown of securities by type and by issuing countries: 

As per country: 
 

 2022  2021 

 Carrying 

amount  

Impairment 

for 

expected 

credit loss 

Net 

carrying 

amount  

 Carrying 

amount  

Impairment 

for 

expected 

credit loss 

Net 

carrying 

amount  

Germany 95,693 (40) 95,653  65,703 (32) 65,671 

France 59,988 (28) 59,960  10,011 (16) 9,995 

Netherlands 48,956 (18) 48,938  12,122 (4) 12,118 

Finland 51,251 (18) 51,233  - - - 

Slovenia 21,021 (13) 21,008  - - - 

Luxemburg 13,520 (1) 13,519  87,452 (17) 87,435 

Belgium 51,308 (22) 51,286  - - - 

Denmark 6,014 (1) 6,013  6,027 (3) 6,024 

Austria 9,971 (2) 9,969  72,366 (21) 72,345 

Ireland 52,379 (4) 52,375  102,229 (11) 102,218 

USA 4,681 (1) 4,680  4,414 (1) 4,413 

Italy 38,973 (24) 38,949  40,107 (63) 40,044 

Poland 15,810 (35) 15,775  15,962 (35) 15,927 

Kosovo 197,394 (156) 197,239  216,577 (165) 216,412 

Total 666,959 (362) 666,597  632,970 (368) 632,602 

As per type: 
 2022  2021 

 Carrying 

amount 

Impairment 

for 

expected 

credit loss 

Net 
carrying 

amount 

 Carrying 

amount  

Impairment 

for 

expected 

credit loss 

Net 
carrying 

amount  

Treasury bills 24,642 (6) 24,636  4,414 (1) 4,413 

Government  

Bonds 
642,317 (356) 641,961  628,556 (367) 628,189 

Total 666,959 (362) 666,597  632,970 (368) 632,602 

The movements of corresponding ECLs for the debt securities at Amortized Costs are, as follows:   
 2022  
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

ECL as at 1 January 2022  368             -                -      368  

Transfers to Stage 1  -     -     -     -    

Transfers to Stage 2  -     -     -     -    

Transfers to Stage 3  -     -     -     -    

ECL (release) / charge for the year  (6)  -     -     (6) 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 

between stages during the year 
 -     -     -     -    

Unwind of discount (recognized in interest income)  -     -     -     -    

Changes due to modifications not resulting in 

derecognition 
 -     -     -     -    

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations 
 -     -     -     -    

Foreign exchange adjustments  -     -     -     -    

At 31 December 2022  362   -     -     362  
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9. Securities (treasury bills and bonds) (continued) 

The movements of corresponding ECLs for the debt securities at Amortized Costs (continued) 

 2021 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

ECL as at 1 January 2021  966             -                -      966  

Transfers to Stage 1  -     -     -     -    

Transfers to Stage 2  -     -     -     -    

Transfers to Stage 3  -     -     -     -    

ECL (release) / charge for the year  (598)  -     -     (598) 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 

between stages during the year 
 -     -     -     -    

Unwind of discount (recognized in interest income)  -     -     -     -    

Changes due to modifications not resulting in 

derecognition 
 -     -     -     -    

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations 
 -     -     -     -    

Foreign exchange adjustments  -     -     -     -    

At 31 December 2021  368   -     -     368  

 

The following table presents the geographical distribution of investments in securities, including the 

minimum, maximum and average yield. Also, the percentage of concentration and maturities at the state 

level. 

 

 2022 

Country 
Minimum 

yield 

Maximum 

yield 

Average 

yield 

Carrying 

amount 

% of 

weight in 

total 

Maturity 

Germany 0.083606% 1.713005% 0.610513% 95,693 14.35% 2023 - 2025 

France 0.856348% 1.350168% 1.110888% 59,988 8.99% 2023 - 2025 

Netherlands 0.401329% 2.110753% 1.078297% 48,956 7.34% 2024 - 2026 

Finland 0.516549% 1.339458% 0.794837% 51,251 7.68% 2023 - 2025 

Slovenia 0.472334% 0.472334% 0.472334% 21,021 3.15% 2025 

Luxemburg 0.867848% 1.164139% 1.015994% 13,520 2.03% 2023 - 2025 

Belgium 0.220161% 1.927772% 0.925997% 51,308 7.69% 2023 - 2027 

Denmark 0.039471% 0.039471% 0.039471% 6,014 0.90% 2023 

Austria 0.550091% 0.550091% 0.550091% 9,971 1.49% 2023 

Ireland 0.128851% 0.556740% 0.342796% 52,379 7.85% 2023 - 2024 

USA 1.017679% 1.017679% 1.017679% 4,681 0.70% 2023 

Italy -0.014030% 0.052825% 0.019397% 38,973 5.84% 2026 

Poland 0.057678% 0.072308% 0.066451% 15,810 2.37% 2027 - 2028 

Kosovo 0.702013% 3.022899% 1.676068% 197,394 29.60% 2023 - 2028 

Total    666,959 100%  
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9. Securities (treasury bills and bonds) (continued) 

 2021 

Country 
Minimum 

coupon rate 

Maximum 

coupon rate 

Average 

coupon rate 

Carrying 

amount 

% of 

weight in 

total 

Maturity 

Germany 0.081030% 0.116846% 0.093827% 65,703 10.38% 2022 - 2023 

France 0.054809% 0.074934% 0.064997% 10,011 1.58% 2022 

Netherlands 0.103064% 0.153385% 0.128224% 12,122 1.92% 2022 

Finland - - - - -  

Slovenia - - - - -  

Luxemburg 0.103429% 0.167596% 0.134248% 87,452 13.82% 2022 

Belgium - - - - -  

Denmark 0.039471% 0.039471% 0.039471% 6,027 0.95% 2023 

Austria 0.018695% 0.020095% 0.019492% 72,366 11.43% 2022 

Ireland 0.082635% 0.128851% 0.111529% 102,229 16.15% 2022 - 2023 

USA 0.078061% 0.078061% 0.078061% 4,414 0.70% 2022 

Italy -0.014030% 0.052825% 0.019397% 40,107 6.34% 2026 

Poland 0.057678% 0.072308% 0.066451% 15,962 2.52% 2027 - 2028 

Kosovo 0.191021% 3.022899% 1.409325% 216,577 34.22% 2022 - 2028 

Total    632,970 100%  

 
10. Money market placements 
Money market placements are composed as follows: 

  2022  2021 

  

 

Gross 

carrying 

amount 

Impairment 

for 

expected 

credit loss 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

 
Gross 

carrying 

amount 

Impairment 

for 

expected 

credit loss 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

Term placements 
 

 

   
 

  
Deutsche Bank  45,000 (53) 44,947  - - - 

Banque Centrale De 

Luxenburg 
 50,000 (2) 49,998  - - - 

Federal Reserve Bank 

(FED-NY) 
 4,782 (1) 4,781  4,415 (1) 4,414 

Banka Kombëtare 

Tregtare Kosovë 
 - - -  9,644 (5) 9,639 

 

 99,782 (56) 99,726  14,059 (6) 14,053 

Interest accrued on 

term placements   
 

       

Deutsche Bank  49 - 49  - - - 

Banque Centrale De 

Luxenburg  
174 - 174  - - - 

Federal Reserve Bank 

(FED-NY)  
1 - 1  - - - 

Banka Kombëtare 

Tregtare Kosovë  
- - -  - - - 

 
 

224 - 224  - - - 

Total  100,006 (56) 99,950  14,059 (6) 14,053 
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10. Money market placements (continued) 

Active placements in euros on the reporting date are 45 million with Deutsche Bank, 50 million with 

the Central Bank of Luxembourg. As well as we have a placement of 5 million in USD with FED on the 

reporting date. 

 

The movements of corresponding ECLs for the money market placements at Amortized Costs are, as 

follows:   
 2022  
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

ECL as at 1 January 2022 6 - - 6 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

ECL (release) / charge of the year 50 - - 50 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 

between stages during the year 
- - - - 

Unwind of discount (recognized in interest income) - - - - 

Changes due to modifications not resulting in 

derecognition 
- - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations 
- - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

At 31 December 2022 56 - - 56 

 
 2021  
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 Total 

ECL as at 1 January 2021 70 - - 70 

Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 

Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 

ECL (release) / charge of the year (64) - - (64) 

Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred 

between stages during the year 
- - - - 

Unwind of discount (recognized in interest income) - - - - 

Changes due to modifications not resulting in 

derecognition 
- - - - 

Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations 
- - - - 

Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - 

At 31 December 2021 6 - - 6 

Money market placements are in Euro and Dollar, the effective interest rate during 2022 ranges from 

0.05% to 4.30% p.a. (2021: -0.60% to 0.25% p.a.) and has an initial maturity of 1 to 367 days (2021: 

from 1 to 365 days). Deposits have a minimum credit rating of AAA/Aaa/AAA to A-/A3/A-, according 

to the rating made for 2022 by Standard & Poors / Moody’s/Fitch. 
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11. Assets related with IMF 

  2022 2021 

IMF quota 103,491  102,216  

SDR Holdings 159,169  158,074  

Accrued interest  1,158  144  

IMF 263,818  260,434  
   

Government   

Due from the Government for the use of IMF funds 

(SBA, RFI) 
51,745  63,359  

Total 315,563  323,793  

 

The assets listed above are related to the admission of Kosovo to the International Monetary Fund 

(“IMF”) in June 2009. CBK acts as depository and fiscal agent in relation to Kosovo’s membership in 

the IMF. This is in accordance with the Law no. 03/L-209 on the Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo 

and Law no. 03-L-152 on Membership of the Republic of Kosovo in the International Monetary Fund 

and World Bank Group Organizations.  

IMF Quota represents the subscription amount determined at the time of admission of Kosovo into the 

IMF and is expressed in SDR. The increase represents the increase of quota from 59 million SDR to 

82.6 million (while disclosed above in the Note 11 in Euro) and the amounts are determined based on 

the rules and regulations of IMF decisions. 

SDR Holdings represent assets approved by the IMF Board of Governors under SDR allocations to IMF 

member countries (decisions taken on 28 August 2009 and 9 September 2009). As well as the new 

allocation / distribution in 2021 (according to IMF definitions) in the amount of 79,168,385 SDR 

approved by the Board of Governors of the IMF on 2 August 2021 with effective date 23 August 2021. 

As a result, SDR Holdings in the IMF on behalf of the Republic of Kosovo has increased for this value 

from the effective date of the transaction. SDR Holdings benefit from annual interest rates in 2022 which 

range from 0.050% to 2.916% p.a. (2021: 0.050% to 0.115% p.a.). 

Due from the Government for the use of IMF funds represents an amount due from the Government as 

per IMF and Kosovo Stand-by Arrangement signed in July 2010, April 2012 and July 2017, through 

which the Government of Kosovo obtained from IMF a line for use of funds in accordance with Standby 

Arrangements as well as the agreement for emergency assistance under the Instrument of Rapid 

Financing (RFI) in the amount of SDR 41.3 million SDR signed in 10 April 2020. While the outstanding 

as 31 December 2022 is 41.3 million SDR (or 51.75 million Euro). The interest rate of this arrangement 

is tied to IMF’s market-related interest rate, known as basic rate of charge, which is itself linked to the 

SDRs interest rate. The interest rate for 2022 ranges from 1.050% to 3.916% p.a. (in 2021 from 1.050% 

to 1.115% p.a.).  

CBK acts as depository institution for the Government of Kosovo. To regulate the Stand-By 

Arrangement with IMF, CBK and the Government of Kosovo entered into an agreement (memorandum 

of understanding) for each Standby Arrangement “on the Procedure for Request, Acceptance, Service 

and Repurchase of the Funds from the IMF in terms of the Stand –By Arrangement (SBA)”. Based on 

this arrangement CBK withdraws/receives the SDRs from IMF, on behalf of the Government and credits 

them to the Government’s account. As explained in note 3 (j) for IMF related assets and liabilities.
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12.    Property and equipment  

Property and equipment are composed as follows: 
  

Leasehold 

improvements 
Equipment Computers Vehicles 

Assets in 

process of 

capitalization 

Total 

Cost 
      

At 1 January 2021 5,795 2,664 2,408 389 5 11,261 

Acquisitions 313 1 6 - - 320 

Transfer from/to 5 - - - (5) - 

Transfer from/to 

(adjustment) 
- - - - - - 

Disposals - (171) (610) - - (781) 

At 31 December 2021 6,113 2,494 1,804 389 - 10,800 
       

At 1 January 2022 6,113 2,494 1,804 389 - 10,800 

Acquisitions - 36 107 - 4 147 

Transfer from/to - - - - - - 

Transfer from/to 

(adjustment) 
- - - - - - 

Disposals - (2) (1) - - (3) 

At 31 December 2022 6,113 2,528 1,910 389 4 10,944 
       

Depreciation       

At 1 January 2021 1,689 2,240 2,106 338 - 6,373 

Depreciation of the 

year 
299 158 175 14 - 646 

Transfer from/to 

(adjustment) 
- - - - - - 

Disposals - (171) (610) - - (781) 

At 31 December 2021 1,988 2,227 1,671 352 - 6,238 
       

At 1 January 2022 1,988 2,227 1,671 352 - 6,238 

Depreciation of the 

year 
310 117 67 14 - 508 

Transfer from/to 

(adjustment) 
- - - - - - 

Disposals - - (1) - - (1) 

At 31 December 2022 2,298 2,344 1,737 366 - 6,745 

Carrying amounts       

At 1 January 2021 4,106 424 302 51 5 4,888 

At 31 December 2021 4,125 267 133 37 - 4,562 

At 31 December 2022 3,815 184 173 23 4 4,199 

 

There are no assets pledged as collateral as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: none). According 

to the Law on CBK, the Central Bank shall, for its official business, utilize and administer the property 

and facilities, including moveable and immovable property, located at Garibaldi Street 33, Pristina.
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13.    Intangible assets  

Intangible assets are composed as follows: 

  
Software 

Software under 

development 
Total 

Cost 
   

Balance at 1 January 2021 4,658 31 4,689 

Correction for prior year - (20) (20) 

Balance at 1 January 2021 (restated) 4,658 11 4,669 

Acquisitions 43 - 43 

Transfers (from)/to 11 (11) - 

Transfers (from)/to (adjustments) - - - 

Disposals/write offs (1,548)  (1,548) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 3,164 - 3,164     

Balance at 1 January 2022 3,164 - 3,164 

Acquisitions 22 - 22 

Transfers (from)/to - - - 

Transfers (from)/to (adjustments) - - - 

Disposals/write offs -  - 

Balance at 31 December 2022 3,186 - 3,186     

Amortization    

Balance at 1 January 2021 2,989 - 2,989 

Amortization for the year 382 - 382 

Disposals (1,548) - (1,548) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 1,823 - 1,823     

Balance at 1 January 2022 1,823 - 1,823 

Amortization for the year  321 - 321 

Disposals/Write offs - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2022 2,144 - 2,144     

Net carrying amounts     

Balance at 1 January 2021 1,669 31 1,700 

Balance at 31 December 2021 1,341 - 1,341 

Balance at 31 December 2022 1,042 - 1,042 

During the year ended 31 December 2021, CBK has written off amortised intangible assets that are not 

in use based on Executive Board Decision, No. 04/2021.  

 
14. Other assets 

 

Other assets are composed as follows: 

 

 2022 2021 

Accrued fee income 2,519  2,047  

Accounts receivables and prepayments 190  140  

Total 2,709  2,187  

Accrued (accrual) fee revenues represent fees from license renewals and other fees for local financial 

institutions accrued for the last quarter.  
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15. Due to domestic banks  
 
Under CBK supervision Banking Rule XVII, commercial banks operating in Kosovo are required to 

maintain a liquidity reserve amounting to 10% of their qualifying customer deposits. At least half of 

these reserve balances must be kept in accounts at CBK. 

Due to domestic banks     
2022  2021 

ProCredit Bank Kosovo 37,351 36,713 

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo  55,952  50,313 

NLB Prishtina  36,177  35,149 

Banka Ekonomike   16,076  13,983 

Banka për Biznes  16,965  13,555 

Banka Kombëtare Tregtare (Kosovë)  26,237  21,139 

Banka Ekonomike Turke (TEB)  31,234  27,763 

Komercijalna Banka – Mitrovica branch  4,937  5,039 

Turkiye is Bankasi a.s.  4,188  3,250 

T.C. Ziraat Bankasi A.S. – Kosovo branch  2,686  2,521 

Banka Credins Kosovë  962  440 

PriBank sh.a.  123  - 

Banka Kreditore e Prishtinës  -  - 

Total minimum required reserve  232,888  209,865 

Additional amount on the required 

reserve 

    

ProCredit Bank Kosovo  42,726  32,074 

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo  15,593  31,007 

NLB Prishtina  60,194  51,193 

Banka Ekonomike  79,147  64,559 

Banka për Biznes  34,924  47,980 

Banka Kombëtare Tregtare (Kosovë)  46,876  65,527 

Banka Ekonomike Turke (TEB)  35,493  57,410 

Komercijalna Banka – Mitrovica branch  4,930  5,051 

Turkiye is Bankasi a.s.  18,213  17,120 

T.C. Ziraat Bankasi A.S. –Kosova branch  7,908  4,613 

Banka Credins Kosovë  4,328  2,687 

PriBank sh.a.  11,030  - 

Banka Kreditore e Prishtinës  31  13 

Total addition on current account 
 

361,393  379,234 

Total amount on current account 
 

594,281  589,099 

 
The interest rate applied on December 31, 2022 is 0%, until August 8, 2022 it was -0.70% (-0.70% for 

December 31, 2021) for deposits above the reserve required. The required reserve is calculated as per 

rule of required reserve. Banks report on this regards with a specific report to CBK on monthly basis.  
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16. Due to IMF related accounts 

 2022 2021 

IMF Account no. 1 265  262  

IMF Account no. 2 6  6  

IMF Security Account 129,831  140,483  

IMF SDR - Allocation 168,563  166,487  

Accrued interest 1,201  145  

Total due to IMF 299,866  307,383  

   

Due to Government   

IMF – Paid proportion of Government quota 18,870 18,470 

Total due to Government 18,870 18,470 

Total 318,736 325,853 

These positions are related to the admission of Kosovo to the IMF in June 2009.  

 

Accounts No.1 and No.2 are IMF accounts with CBK opened according to IMF’s rules and regulations. 

 

IMF Security Account represents a promissory note, which the Government of Kosovo has to pay upon 

IMF’s request. This amount represents the liability of the CBK to IMF and is matched by a 

corresponding claim of the CBK to the Government of Kosovo. 

 

IMF paid portion of Government quota represents the amount paid by the Government to the IMF 

regarding the IMF quota. 

 

SDRs allocation represents allocations of SDRs to IMF’s member countries as approved by IMF Board 

of Governors on 28 August 2009 and 9 September 2009. As well as the new allocation / distribution 

2021 (according to IMF definitions) in the amount of 79,168,385 SDR approved by the Board of 

Governors of the IMF on 2 August 2021 and effective 23 August 2021. Consequently, this item on 

behalf of the Republic of Kosovo has increased for the value in question from the effective date of the 

transaction. 

 

SDR Allocations and Paid portion of quota are interest-bearing with annual interest rates for quarterly 

averages ranging from 0.050% - 2.916% p.a. 2022 (2021: 0.050% - 0.115% p.a.). 

 

 

 

 

 



Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(in thousands of EUR unless otherwise stated) 

Page 43 of 50 

 

17. Due to Governmental institutions 

Due to Governmental institutions comprise current accounts as follows: 

Current accounts 2022 2021 

Treasury – Ministry of Finance 419,665  423,322  

Privatization Agency of Kosovo 165,854  184,737  

Interim administration institutions  265  303  

Total  585,784  608,362  

The effective annual interest rate for current accounts for the year ended on 31 December 2022 is zero 

(for the year ended on 31 December 2021: zero).  

18. Due to public and commercial entities  

Current accounts 2022 2021 

Insurance companies 4,762 4,811 

Other public institutions 126,373 72,579 

Licensed Pension Funds - - 

Other 2 2 

  Total 131,137 77,392  

The effective interest for current accounts as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is zero. 

19. Borrowings 

 2022 2021 

Balance at 1 January 2,139 2,154 

Repayments for borrowings (installments)  (230) (110) 

Foreign exchange adjustments 29 95 

  Total 1,938 2,139 

 

The above amounts represent the borrowing from the World Bank. The Bank has used the 

opportunity of borrowing with favourable terms (the low interest rates and repayment period of 

principal up to 10 years). The annual interest rate is 0.75% and the repayment of interest has started 

from the starting of the disbursement in 2014, but the repayment of the principal has started from 

October 2021. The final maturity will be 15 April 2031. The borrowing is related to the project for 

payments system within the country in terms of their real time processing and for the project for 

the centre of continuity of work. Both of these two projects are now realized. The change is due to 

the EUR/SDR exchange rate movement at the reporting date. 
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20. Other liabilities  
  2022 2021 

Safe custody accounts 756 756 

Deferred grants  138 197 

Other deferred income 13 15 

Provision for litigations   327 261 

Sundry creditors  527 574 

Employee benefits 683 615  
2,444 2,418 

As of 31 December 2022, and 2021, the safe custody accounts include the amount of 756 thousand Euros, 

which is related to the current accounts of the Kosovo Insurance Company, which was liquidated on April 

2010. Consequently, this amount remained as safe custody account and as of 31 December 2022 and 2021 

it has the above balance. 

The movement in provisions is as follows: 

  2022 2021 

Carrying value on January 1st 261 242 

Provision expenses for litigations  

(note 28) 
66 20 

Release of provisions during the year - (1) 
 

327 261 

 

The movement in deferred grants was as follows: 

  
Ministry of 

Finance  

World 

Bank 

European 

Central 

Bank 

Total 

Deferred grant at 1 January 2021 78 217 - 295 

Grants received during the year - - 28 28 

Grants recognized as revenue for the year (note: 25) (60) (38) (28) (126) 

     

Deferred grant at 31 December 2021 18 179 - 197 

     
Deferred grant at 1 January 2022 18 179 - 197 

Grants received during the year - - 8 8 

Grants recognized as revenue for the year (note: 25) (18) (41) (8) (67) 

     

Deferred grant at 31 December 2022 - 138 - 138 

 

The Ministry of Finance grant was their project for establishment the application of the Kosovo 

government security deposits, once the project was completed they granted to us the application. The 

World Bank grant was for application of off-site supervision and the ECB grant is the regional project 

for training the regional central bank, part of that program was the CBK as well.  
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21. Authorized capital 

The CBK statutory fund as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is 30,000 Euro, pursuant to the Law no. 03/L- 

209 adopted on 22 July 2010.  

CBK reports directly to the Assembly of Kosovo. CBK capital is not subject to encumbrances. 

 

21a.      Reserve fund and revaluation reserve 

 
The reserve fund and revaluation reserve are regulated by article 54 of the Law no. 03/L-209 on 

the Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo. The profit of this Law is allocated each year as it is 

described in Note 4 (f), in accordance with the Articles 54, 55 and 56 of this Law.   

 

22. Net interest income 

Net interest income is composed as follows:  

 2022 2021 

Interest income   

  From deposit accounts  393  3  

 From treasury bills and bonds 4,628  2,976  

 From current accounts 2,756  50  

  From negative rates in deposits 797  1,113  

 8,574 4,142 

Interest expense   

On current accounts from non-banking entities 2,079 56 

To nostrum accounts with correspondent banks 569 1,341 

On term deposits - 80 

From borrowings 20 16 

 2,668 1,493 

Net interest income 5,906 2,649 

CBK until July 27, 2022 has paid negative rates on the balances of nostro current accounts with 

correspondent banks (according to certain limits determined by them). Until August 8, 2022, CBK 

calculated and charged -0.70% negative interest to some of its depositors (commercial banks for deposits 

above the required reserve and Kosova Pension Saving Trust and account balance), the interest rate 

applied on December 31, 2022 is 0% (-0.70% for December 31, 2021).  From July 27 (referring to the 

ECB's decision on the change of the base interest rate from July 27, 2022, September 14, November 2, 

and December 21, 2022), CBK has realized interest income on nostro current accounts. As a result, from 

January 1, 2023, the CBK started to applies a positive rate10 to all depositors of the CBK, while it applies 

the same rate to commercial banks up to the minimum reserve requirement. 

 
10Interest rate for current accounts 0.15% (effective from January 1, 2023) 
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23. Net fee and commission income 

 Net fee and commission income are composed as follows: 

 2022 2021 

Fee income   

From cash deposits 1,352 1,190  

From foreign incoming transfers 87 87  

From foreign outgoing transfers 445 366  

From the inter-bank clearing system 1,686 1,564  

From the credit registry system 172 162  

Other fees 18 19  

 3,760 3,388  

 

Fee expenses 
  

For cash transportation 873 536  

For correspondent bank transactions 51 41  

 924 577  

Net fee and commission income 2,836 2,811  

This group of income is derived from the services offered to CBK's clients (institution), for payments, 

deposits, for the credit registry platform and maintenance of accounts and items in storage. 

 

24. Income from regulatory activity 

Regulatory activity income mainly comprises fees charged to financial institutions in Kosovo as part of 

the issuance or renewal of licenses, as well as other statutory fees related to their activities for which the 

CBK has the legal authority to regulate them.  

  2022 2021 

Fee charged to commercial banks 4,574 4,133 

Fee charged to insurance companies 2,028 1,818 

Fee from non-bank financial institutions 323 355 

Fee charged to pension fund institutions 29 29 

Total  6,954 6,335 

25. Grant income 

Grant income is composed as follows: 

 2022 2021 

Treasury – Ministry of Finances (ICU portfolio) 18 60 

World Bank 41 38 

European Central Bank 8 28 

Total 67 126 

26. Other operating income 

 2022 2021 

Other income 13 22 

Total 13 22 

Other income is income which is not related with the ordinary activity of the CBK and any other balance 

disclosed in a separate Note. 
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27.         Personnel expenses 

Personnel expenses are composed as follows: 

 2022  2021 

Employee benefits   

Wages and salaries 4,007 3,924 

Pension contributions (employer) 628 628 

Health and life insurance costs 288 282 

 4,923 4,834 

Other personnel expenses   

Staff training 84 9 

Central Bank Board expenses 108 51 

Other 12 14 

 204 74 

Total 5,127 4,908 
 

The number of employees that actively affected the cost disclosed for 2022 is 232 (2021: 233).  

 

28. General and administrative expenses 

General and administrative expenses are as follows:  

 2022 2021 

Insurance expenses 582 486 

Software maintenance 410 361 

Security and guard services 112 112 

Repairs and maintenance 110 91 

Travel and transportation 101 15 

Utilities 89 83 

Provision expenses 65 20 

Cafeteria expenses  45 44 

Other 44 50 

Membership in professional organizations ** 37 31 

Communication expense 

(telephone, telex and internet) 
33 32 

Representation expenses * 31 19 

Vehicle operating expenses 20 17 

Publication and literature expenses 20 10 

Technical professional assistance and other 

external services 
15 12 

Computer and other consumables expense   15 5 

Audit and consulting expense 12 10 

Consumable expenses for equipment 7 8 

Other representation expenses * 5 7 

Stationery  4 7 

Total  1,757 1,420 

*    Other Representation expenses consist of: conferences and similar activities, financial education program, children's gift for the end of the 

year, ceremonies and gifts for staff retirement, gifts for March 8 and the like.  
**   Memberships in professional organizations relates to the expenses for international memberships fees  

       for insurance supervisions, pension supervisions, credit registry, internal audit and financial reporting standard regulatory.  
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29.  Unrealized net profit/loss from foreign exchange fluctuation and ECL 

 

Net unrealized profit from foreign exchange is 542 thousand Euro for the year ended 31 December 

2022, (while in 2021: unrealized profit of 536 thousand), and it represents the unrealised foreign 

exchange gains/losses in relation to foreign exchange differences resulting upon translation of the USD 

and SDR assets and liabilities to the equivalent amounts in Euro, disclosed in the CBK’s books. 

 

Within the non-Euro currencies, there are the respective positions: 

 

  31 December 2022 

Note:   Assets   Liabilities   

10 USD 10,463 - 

11,16 SDR 250,939 254,984  
   

 
   

 
 31 December 2021  
  Assets   Liabilities   

10 USD 10,370 - 

11,16 SDR 261,538 264,931 

 

 

The effect of exchange rate variation derives from: 

 31 December 2022 31 December 2021 

from USD 574  706  

from SDR (32)  (170) 

 
542  536  

 

 

Unrealized profit / loss from the change of “exchange rate” is a temporary non-operating position 

derived from foreign currency items (USD and SDR disclosed above), which on the reporting date must 

be reported in Euros their equivalents according to the exchange rate of the reporting date. With the 

change of the exchange rate, there is also a difference (whether profit or loss), which as such only 

equates financial items - equivalent values but which are not actual realizations. 

 

This effect in 2022 has been positive and has increased "total comprehensive income for the year". If 

we exclude this effect (respectively the amounts of 542 thousand profit in 2022 and 536 thousand euros 

as unrealized profit in 2021) as well as the net effect of provisions for expected credit losses for financial 

instruments, then the operating financial result for 2022 is 8,063 thousand euro and for 2021 is 4,587 

thousand Euro. 

 

Position in USD are set out in notes 4 (d), while position in SDR - The special rights of withdrawal are 

set out in notes 11 and 16. 

 
Total unrealized profit/loss (including financial instruments) 2022 2021 

From foreign currency position  542 536 

From financial instrument position (note 4) (53) 993 

Total revaluation profit/loss 489 1,529 
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30.  Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are composed as follows: 

 Note             2022 2021 

 Cash on hand 7 409,426 537,818 

Current accounts with non-resident banks 8 206,400 151,912 

Deposit accounts with non-resident banks with 

original maturity up to three months 
10 24,798 14,059 

Total  640,624 703,789 
 

Cash and cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments. An 

investment qualifies as a cash equivalent when it has a short maturity, three months or less from the date 

of acquisition. 

 

31. Commitments and Contingencies Liabilities  

Legal cases 

There are several open legal cases against the CBK as at the reporting date of these financial statements. 

It is the management’s opinion that the final outcome of these cases will not have a significant effect on 

the financial statements of the CBK, as at and for the year ending 31 December 2022. The CBK has 

estimated and recorded a provision disclosed under other liabilities. 

 

Other Commitments 

Other commitments are composed as follows: 

  2022 2021 

   

Contracts for renovation of building 213  -    

Equipment contracts 498  -    

Applications in process 144  -    

Total 855 - 

 

In 2009, Kosovo became a member of the World Bank Group organizations – International Bank 

for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), International Development Association (IDA), and 

the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA). In relation to this membership, the CBK 

acts as depository. This is in accordance with the Law no. 03/L-209 on the Central Bank of the 

Republic of Kosovo and Law no. 03-L-152 on Membership of the Republic of Kosovo in the 

International Monetary Fund and World Bank Group Organizations.  

 

In June 2009, the Government of Kosovo issued promissory notes to make payments concerning 

membership subscription to the abovementioned World Bank agencies, upon their requests and 

payment instructions. The total balance at 31 December 2022 was 718 thousand Euro and in 2021 the 

total amount of these promissory notes was 645 thousand Euro.   
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32.        Related party transactions 

Related parties include Key Management and the Central Bank Board. Their compensations are 

presented below: 

  2022 2021 

Compensation to Central Bank Board members 82 46 

Compensation to Audit Committee  10 - 

Compensation to Key Management Personnel 153 158 

Total 245 204  

33.      Subsequent events  

 

From March 29, 2023, the CBK Board, based on Article 46 of the Law on the CBK, has taken over the 

powers of the Executive Board according to the definitions of this article. Until the date of preparation 

of these Financial Statements, no Executive Board Member has been elected. 

Regarding the interest rate, the ECB continues to change the rate (increase) on February 8, 2023 2.50%, 

March 22, 2023 3.00% and May 10, 2023 3.25%. As a result, interest income increased during this 

period in 2023. 

Except as the above mentioned, no material events subsequent to the date of the statement of financial 

position have occurred that would require corrections in the financial statements nor events that would 

require additional disclosures in the financial statements. 


